259

Biol. Rev. (2009), **84**, pp. 259–276. doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X.2008.00074.x

Consumptive emasculation: the ecological and evolutionary consequences of pollen theft

Anna L. Hargreaves^{1*}, Lawrence D. Harder¹ and Steven D. Johnson²

¹ Department of Biological Sciences, University of Calgary, 2500 University Drive NW, Calgary Alberta, Canada, T2N 1N4

(Received 23 April 2008; revised 17 December 2008; accepted 20 December 2008)

ABSTRACT

Many of the diverse animals that consume floral rewards act as efficient pollinators; however, others 'steal' rewards without 'paying' for them by pollinating. In contrast to the extensive studies of the ecological and evolutionary consequences of nectar theft, pollen theft and its implications remain largely neglected, even though it affects plant reproduction more directly. Here we review existing studies of pollen theft and find that: (1) most pollen thieves pollinate other plant species, suggesting that theft generally arises from a mismatch between the flower and thief that precludes pollen deposition, (2) bees are the most commonly documented pollen thieves, and (3) the floral traits that typically facilitate pollen theft involve either spatial or temporal separation of sex function within flowers (herkogamy and dichogamy, respectively). Given that herkogamy and dichogamy occur commonly and that bees are globally the most important floral visitors, pollen theft is likely a greatly underappreciated component of floral ecology and influence on floral evolution. We identify the mechanisms by which pollen theft can affect plant fitness, and review the evidence for theft-induced ecological effects, including pollen limitation. We then explore the consequences of pollen theft for the evolution of floral traits and sexual systems, and conclude by identifying key directions for future research.

Key words: pollen limitation, pollen parasitism, pollen robbery, pollination efficiency, cheating, toxic pollen, sexual systems.

CONTENTS

| 1. | Introduction | 260 |
|------|---|-----|
| | (1) Who are pollen thieves? | 260 |
| | (2) Effects of pollen theft on plant reproduction | 261 |
| | (a) Direct effects | 261 |
| | (b) Indirect effects | 261 |
| II. | Ecological consequences of pollen theft | 266 |
| | (1) Pollen limitation | 266 |
| | (2) Measurement of the impact of pollen theft | 266 |
| III. | Evolutionary consequences of pollen theft | 268 |
| | (1) Adaptation of floral traits | 268 |
| | (a) Tolerance | 268 |
| | (b) Resistance | 269 |
| | (i) Escape in time. | 269 |
| | (ii) Escape in space: cryptic pollen. | 269 |
| | (iii) Escape in space: inaccessible pollen. | 269 |
| | (iv) Deterrents: pollen structure. | 269 |
| | (v) Deterrents: chemical defence. | 270 |
| | | |

² School of Biological and Conservation Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal, P. Bag X01 Scottsville, Pietermaritzburg 3209, South Africa

 $^{{\}bf *} \ \, {\rm Address} \ \, {\rm for} \ \, {\rm correspondence:} \ \, ({\rm email} \ \, {\rm alhargreaves@gmail.com})$

| | (c) Converting thieves into pollinators | 270 |
|-----|---|-----|
| | (2) Sexual-system evolution | 271 |
| IV. | Conclusions | 271 |
| V. | Acknowledgments | 272 |
| VI | References | 279 |

I. INTRODUCTION

Mating by angiosperms with granular pollen is highly inefficient, as typically <1% of the pollen removed from flowers reaches conspecific stigmas (Harder & Johnson, 2008). This low pollination efficiency has diverse ecological and evolutionary consequences. Poor success during pollen transport likely contributes significantly to the common pollen limitation of seed production in plant populations (Ashman *et al.*, 2004). Low pollination efficiency also creates considerable opportunity for evolutionary improvement of pollination and mating systems *via* selection on floral traits (Harder & Routley, 2006). Indeed, angiosperm diversity correlates geographically with the incidence of pollen limitation in plant communities (Vamosi *et al.*, 2006).

Consumption of pollen by animals may contribute significantly to the transport losses that are important causes of low pollination efficiency (Harder & Routley, 2006). Pollen provides an accessible, rich source of protein, which is consumed by a variety of invertebrates and vertebrates (Roulston & Cane, 2000; Roulston, Cane & Buchmann, 2000; Diaz & Kitzberger, 2006). These animals either consume pollen directly (e.g. *Trigona* bees, beetles, bats, syrphid flies, thrips), or collect it to feed their larvae (e.g. bees and masarid wasps). Because pollen provides the sole protein source for many of these animals, especially bees, it represents an essential resource for their existence and abundance, and is a key commodity in plant-animal interactions.

Pollen consumption necessarily reduces reproductive potential for both the affected plant's siring opportunities and, because of the reduced pool of pollen available for dispersal to stigmas, the plant population as a whole. Whether pollen consumption actually reduces pollination depends on the fate of other pollen that animals remove from flowers. Many flower visitors that consume pollen also transport it to stigmas and act as pollinators (Simpson & Neff, 1981; Buchmann, 1983), in which case the eaten pollen represents payment for services rendered. By contrast, other pollen consumers may effect no, or limited, pollination compared to that provided by a plant's efficient pollinators, so they act as pollen thieves that can directly reduce reproductive performance in the host-plant population (e.g. do Carmo, Franceschinelli & da Silveira, 2004; Diaz & Kitzberger, 2006). For example, introduction of honey bees (Apis mellifera L.) into foreign environments often disrupts pollination of native plants and can threaten their long-term viability (Paton, 1993; Vaughton, 1996; Gross & Mackay, 1998; Goulson, 2003; do Carmo et al.,

Despite the potentially significant consequences of pollen theft for plant reproduction, and growing interest in the closely related topics of nectar theft (Irwin, Brody & Waser, 2001), pollen limitation (Ashman et al., 2004), cheating on mutualisms (Bronstein, 2001) and the effects of introduced species on native pollination systems (Traveset & Richardson, 2006), the occurrence and consequences of pollen theft have yet to receive much attention. Indeed, a search of the ISI Web of Science for ("nectar rob*" or "nectar theft" or "nectar thie*") in papers published from 1970 until July 2008 identified 154 citations, whereas a search with 'nectar' replaced by 'pollen' found 15 papers, of which only 10 addressed pollen theft from plants. Due to the potential importance of pollen theft in floral ecology and evolution, and its relevance as a conservation issue, a synthesis of the existing work that exposes gaps in current understanding and identifies relevant hypotheses is timely.

Herein we review available literature on pollen theft and consider its implications for plant reproduction. We first propose a comprehensive definition of pollen theft and apply it to published cases to identify animals that commonly act as thieves. We then summarize current understanding of the ecological and evolutionary effects of pollen theft and propose new hypotheses concerning these consequences. Finally, we discuss the evolutionary options for plants to escape pollen theft or mitigate its deleterious impacts on pollination.

(1) Who are pollen thieves?

All pollen thieves consume pollen directly and/or collect it to feed to their offspring; however, all thieves are not functionally equivalent from a plant's perspective. We define pollen foragers as thieves if they deposit so little of the pollen they remove onto conspecific stigmas that their absence from the prevailing assemblage of flower visitors would not reduce cross-pollination. If thieves damage flowers during theft we will refer to them as pollen robbers when the distinction is informative (by contrast, Inouye, 1980, included cases with no damage [theft] and damage [robbery] as classes of floral larceny). Within this definition, we recognize two classes of pollen thieves that differ in the consistency of their effects on the cross-pollination of a particular plant species: habitual thieves and conditional thieves.

Habitual thieves always remove pollen from a given plant species without depositing pollen on appropriate stigmas, and so universally reduce cross-pollination of the plant species involved. Habitual thieves include: animals that do not visit flowers when ovules are available for pollination, by avoiding female plants (e.g. do Carmo *et al.*, 2004), female flowers, or dichogamous flowers in female phase (e.g. Paton, 1993); animals whose size, morphology and/or foraging behaviour while visiting receptive flowers

precludes stigma contact as they access pollen (e.g. Eguiarte & del Río, 1987; Weiss, 1996); and animals that do not carry pollen, such as slugs (e.g. Neijzing & Zeven, 1976). For example, unlike the resin-collecting bees that pollinate dioecious *Clusia arrudae*, introduced honey bees, which do not use resin, collect pollen from male trees while ignoring female trees (do Carmo *et al.*, 2004), and so never transfer pollen to stigmas.

Identification of conditional thieves is less straightforward, because they pollinate, but represent the minimum of the continuum in cross-pollination efficiency (e.g. Vaughton, 1996), delivering a trivial proportion of the pollen they remove from flowers to stigmas on other conspecific plants. This inefficiency by conditional thieves can arise for several reasons, including inappropriate flower manipulation to effect pollination reliably (e.g. Hurd & Linsley, 1963; Ish-Am & Eisikowitch, 1993) and/or a poor match between thief size and the positions of floral sex organs (e.g. Armbruster et al., 1989). The essential feature of conditional thieves involves the presence of alternative efficient pollinators: they act as thieves if other visitors provide more efficient pollination, but serve as pollinators (albeit poor ones) when they are a plant's only visitors (Thomson & Thomson, 1992). Interestingly, an individual animal could act temporarily as a conditional thief while learning to manipulate flowers of a particular species (see Raine & Chittka, 2007), but as an efficient pollinator once it is experienced.

To identify animals that act as pollen thieves we searched for published studies that identified floral visitors as pollen thieves, pollen parasites or pollinivores (Inouye et al., 1994) and/or documented pollen theft. The resulting 53 studies describe pollen theft (as defined here or by the authors) from more than 80 plant species in almost 40 families (Table 1). With one exception, all identified pollen thieves are invertebrates and, except for snails and mites, are flying insects that depend on pollen for protein. As a group, bees act most often as pollen thieves. The sole reported vertebrate pollen thief is a parakeet (Enicognathus ferrugineus) that selectively consumes pollen and male flowers of Nothofagus pumillo, a monoecious, wind-pollinated tree (Diaz & Kitzberger, 2006). Most documented cases of pollen theft involve species-level interactions, but individuals of an otherwise pollinating species may also act as thieves. For example, pollen- versus nectar-foraging honey bees often differ in their pollination efficiency: exclusive pollen foragers can act as thieves, whereas nectar foragers pollinate effectively (Ish-Am & Eisikowitch, 1993; Young, Dunning & von Hasseln, 2007).

Most identified pollen thieves (Table 1) effectively pollinate other plant species; thus pollen theft results not simply from intrinsic characteristics that predispose an animal to theft, but more generally from a mismatch between the ecologies and morphologies of the animal and plant involved. Nevertheless, some animals have been documented as pollen thieves much more frequently than others, such as the highly eusocial bees *Trigona* and *Apis* (Table 1). *Trigona* species are the only bees reported to chew through anthers to access pollen, and so may be less constrained by floral morphology that encourages stigma contact by pollen

collectors. Indeed, *Trigona* species that act as pollen thieves seem to do so habitually more often than conditionally. Honey bees (*Apis* spp.) also display remarkable flexibility in their manipulation of flowers, which could predispose them to pollen theft (Westerkamp, 1991). Given that bees are both the most important group of flower visitors worldwide (Danforth *et al.*, 2006), and the most frequently documented pollen thieves, pollen theft is probably much more widespread than indicated by the existing literature.

(2) Effects of pollen theft on plant reproduction

(a) Direct effects

Pollen functions directly in plant mating as the carrier of male gametes, so its removal by pollen thieves represents consumptive emasculation that can reduce siring opportunities directly (do Carmo *et al.*, 2004). Pollen theft can also cause pollen limitation at the population level by depleting the overall pool of male gametes available to fertilize ovules (Hargreaves, 2007). By contrast, nectar serves no direct role in plant reproduction, so its loss through theft can affect reproductive performance only indirectly.

Pollen theft directly degrades a plant's male and/or female fitness only if consumed pollen would otherwise have been deposited on stigmas. Three possible pollen fates arise during pollen removal: pollen remains in anthers after visits cease (removal failure); pollen is dislodged (e.g. by a "sloppy" flower visitor), but not carried away (removal loss); and visitors remove pollen, which then has a chance of being involved in self- or cross-pollination (Harder, 2000; Harder & Routley, 2006). If stolen pollen would otherwise have been involved in removal failure or loss, theft should not compromise plant fitness. Indeed, a negative relation between removal loss and potentially exportable pollen may underlie the evolution of pollination by pollencollecting bees (Harder & Wilson, 1997). However, if theft consumes potentially exportable pollen, without a compensating reduction in removal loss, it reduces siring opportunities and, potentially, male fitness. Identification of the alternative fate(s) of stolen pollen will often be difficult, but theft directly from stigmas (Gross, 1993; Gross & Mackay, 1998) provides a rare exception, because this pollen was already deposited successfully and so is clearly stolen from the exported pollen pool. As thieves can probably remove only ungerminated grains, because germinated grains generally adhere firmly to stigmas (Ortega, Dicenta & Egea, 2007), direct theft from stigmas almost certainly reduces the siring success of the pollen donors, and can reduce female success directly as well (Gross & Mackay, 1998).

(b) Indirect effects

Pollen theft could also affect plant performance indirectly, much like nectar theft. Because pollen is not replaced after its removal, pollen theft cannot impose the energetic burden that can reduce fecundity after nectar theft (Inouye, 1980; Westerkamp, 1996). Rather, pollen (and nectar) theft may

Table 1. Documented occurrences of pollen theft as defined in the text or by the original authors, including the plants and animals involved and factors that contribute to theft. Studies were found by searching the ISI Web of Science (1972 to 2008) and CSA Biological Sciences (1960 to 2008) using the topic phrases "pollen theft"; "pollen thie*", "pollen rob*", "pollen parasit*", "pollinivor*" and "ugly pollinator*" and, to find studies in Spanish, "polen and (parasit* or rob*)". For each study of pollen theft, we then searched the literature that it cited and that cited it for additional accounts. Studies that documented theft by multiple visitor groups are listed in full under the main thief and again as additional references under other thieves.

| Pollen thief | Plant species Family | Primary pollinators | Primary floral reward | Sexual system ^a | Reason animal acts as thief ^b | Thief habitual or conditional ^c | Reference |
|-----------------------------|--|--|-----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|---|--|
| Hymenoptera, Apoidea (bees) | poidea (bees) | | | | | | |
| • | Parkia clappertoniana Mimosaceae | bats | nectar | H (hk) | herkogamy | (H) | Baker & Harris (1957) |
| | Callistemon rugulosus Myrtaceae | birds (honey eaters) | nectar | Н | herkogamy ^d | Ü | Paton (1993) |
| | Campomanesia pubescens Myrtaceae | large, buzz- pollinating bees | pollen | H (hk) | herkogamy ^d behaviour 1 | Н | Torezan-Silingardi & Del-Claro (1998) |
| | Salvia glutinosa Lamiaceae | Bombus spp. | nectar | Н | herkogamy behaviour 1 | (H) | Westerkamp (1991); Schremmer (1953) |
| | Amomum subulatum Zingiberaceae | Bombus spp. | nectar and pollen | Н | herkogamy behaviour 1 | Н | Sinu & Shivanna (2007) |
| | Melastoma affine Melastomataceae | large buzz- pollinating bees | pollen | H (bz) | behaviour 1: collects pollen from stigma ^d | Н | Gross & Mackay (1998) |
| | Impatiens capensis Balsaminaceae | Bombus spp. | nectar and pollen | H (♂\$) | behaviour I ^e dichogamv ^d | C | Wilson & Thomson (1991) |
| | <i>Correa reflexa</i> Rutaceae | birds (honey eaters) | nectar | Н | dichogamy ^d ´ | Ü | Paton (1993) |
| | Persea americana Lauraceae | nectar- collecting honey bees | nectar | H (♀♂) | dichogamy | C: nectar foragers pollinate, pollen foragers do not | Ish-Am & Eisikowitch (1993) |
| | Grevillea barklyana Proteaceae | birds | nectar | H (♂\$) | dichogamy ^d reduced delayed selfing | Ü | Vaughton (1996) |
| | Clusia arrudae resin-collecting resin D Clusiaceae bee also Baker et al. (1971) ^d ; Moco & Pinheiro (1999) ^d ; Eguiarte & del Río (1987) | resin-collecting bee co & Pinheiro (1999) ^d | resin ; Eguiarte & del R | D io (1987) | dioecy ^d | н | do Carmo et al. (2004) |

| | Crescentra alata Bironiaceae | bats | nectar | Н | herkogamy | (H) | del Río & Bullock (1990) |
|-----------------|---|--------------------------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|-----|--|
| I | Dalechampia magnoliifolia Eunhorbiaceae | male euglossine | fragrance | M | herkogamy | ŭ | Armbruster et al. (1989) |
| 40 | Aphelandra golfodulcensis Justica aurea Acanthaceae | hummingbirds | nectar | $\mathbf{H}\;(A.g=\mathrm{hk})$ | herkogamy behaviour 1 | (H) | McDade & Kinsman (1980) |
| | 34 unspecified spp. Melastoma affine Melastomataceae | large buzz- pollinating bees | pollen | H (bz) | herkogamy behaviour 2 | Н | Renner (1983); Gross (1993) |
| | Cochlospermum vitifolium Cochlospermaceae | Xylocopa and $Centris$ bees | pollen | H (bz) | herkogamy or behaviour 1 | (H) | Snow & Roubik (1987) |
| | Theobroma cacao Sterculiaceae | flies | nectar | Н | behaviour 1 | Н | Young (1981; 1985) |
| 7 | Medicago sativa, Astragalus sinicus Fabaceae | pees | nectar? | Н | behaviour 1 | c | Tezuka & Maeta (1995) |
| | Thunbergia grandiftora Acanthaceae | pees | nectar | Н | ? chew off anthers ^d | c | Young (1983) |
| I | Bromelia antiacantha Bromeliaceae | hummingbirds, maybe <i>Bombus</i> | nectar | Н | c. | c. | Canela & Sazima (2005) |
| 8 Halictidae | spp. also Moco & Pinheiro (1999); Raju & Rao (2006); Bullock <i>et al.</i> (1989) | spp. Raju & Rao (2006) | ; Bullock et al. (19 | (68) | | | |
| | Datura spp. Solanaceae | hawkmoths | nectar | Н | herkogamy | (H) | Thorp (2000) |
| | Campanula americana Campanulaceae | Bombus | pollen | H (♂\$) | dichogamy | (C) | Johnson <i>et al.</i> (1995); Lau & Galloway (2004) |
| | Passiflora feetida Pees nectar H Passifloraceae also Baker et al (1971): Moco & Pinheiro (1999): Renner (1983): Armbruster et al (1989) | colletid bees | nectar Renner (1983): An | H mbruster <i>et al</i> (198 | . (6) | c. | García & Hoc (1998) |
| Perdita spp. | | ((000)) | . ((0001) | | | | |
| Z | Mentzelia decapetala Loasaceae | sphingid moths | nectar | Н | herkogamy | Н | Michener (1979) |
| | Opuntia phaeacantha Cactaceae | large bees | nectar? | Н | herkogamy behaviour 1 | Н | Barrows <i>et al.</i> (1976) |
| , | Proboscidea arenaria Martyniaceae | same as thief | nectar and pollen | Н | behaviour 1 | Ŋ | Hurd & Linsley (1963) |
| Bombus spp. | Tolmieg menziesii | fimens enats | nectar | H (36) | dichogamy small | н | Goldblatt et al. (2004) |
| ' 8 | Saxifragaceae also Baker et al. (1971), Eguiarte & del | rte & del Río (1987) | _ | F 2 | pollen loads | : | |

| (cont.) |
|--------------|
| _; |
| $_{\rm ole}$ |
| <u>Fa</u> |

| Table 1. (cont.) | | | | | | | |
|------------------|---|---|--------------------------|-------------------------------|---|-------------------------------|--|
| Pollen thief | Plant species Family | Primary pollinators | Primary floral reward | Sexual system ^a | Reason animal acts as thief ^b | Thief habitual or conditional | Reference |
| mixed bees | Swartzia apetala Fabaceae | buzz- pollinating | pollen | H (bz) | herkogamy | (C) | Moco & Pinheiro (1999) |
| | unspecified spp. Melastomataceae | solitary bees large buzz- pollinating bees | pollen | H (bz) | herkogamy | depends on the species | Renner (1983) |
| | Rhododendron calendulaceum Exicaceae | butterflies | nectar | Н | herkogamy | (H) | Blair & Wolfe (2007) |
| | Prockia crucis | Centris and V_{eff} | pollen | Н | herkogamy | (H) | Bullock et al. (1989) |
| | riacourtaceae Pseudobombax ellipticum | Ayotopa Dees bats and birds (orioles) | nectar and | Н | herkogamy | (\mathbf{H}) | Eguiarte & del Río (1987) |
| | Ceiba acuminata Ceiba pentandra Malyaceae | bats | nectar | H (hk) | herkogamy timing | Н | Baker <i>et al.</i> (1971); Baker & Harris (1959) |
| | Pongamia pinnata Fabaceae | larger bees | nectar and pollen | H (keel) | behaviour 2: too small to depress keel netals | Ö | Raju & Rao (2006) |
| | 8 spp. (6 genera) Malpighiaceae | oil-collecting bees | oil, rarely pollen | H (Ç3) | behaviour 2: rarely rupture stigmatic cuticle as needed | O | Sigrist & Sazima (2004) |
| I | Heracleum sphondylium Apiaceae | some flies and beetles | nectar and pollen | H (34) | dichogamy | (H) | Zych (2007) |
| Concopicia (occi | Isoneris arborea Sapparaceae | likely Bombus spp. | nectar and pollen | Ą | larvae consume developing | Н | Krupnick & Weis (1999); Krupnick |
| | Žea mays Pozcese | wind | I | Н | ; | Н | Lundgren <i>et al.</i> (2004) |
| | Banksia menziesii Proteaceae | birds (honey eaters) | nectar | H (34) | do not deposit enough pollen to | Н | Ramsey $(1988a, b)$ |
| | Aconitum lycoctonum Rammenlaceae | $\frac{1}{Rombuc}$ con | nectar | H (♂\$) | pomnaec ; | c. | Utelli & Roy (2001) |
| | Trevoa quinquenervia Rhamnaceae | flies, bees and beetles | nectar and pollen | A (♂♀) | a. | (C) | Medan & D'Ambrogio (1998) |

| Diptera (flies) | | | | | | | |
|--|--|------------------------------------|----------------------|---------|--|-----|-----------------------------|
| | Plantago sp. Plantaginaceae grasses Poaceae | wind | | Н | herkogamy? small pollen loads | e | Holloway (1976) |
| | Centropogon solanifolius ^e Campanulaceae | hummingbirds | nectar | H (dc) | larvae eat anthers in bud and leave before flower matures | н | Weiss (1996) |
| | Galeopsis speciosa Lamiaceae | long-tongued <i>Bombus</i> spp. | nectar and pollen | Н | unlikely to carry pollen on proboscis | Ü | Schremmer (1953) |
| | Tolmiea menziesii Saxifragaceae | fungus gnat | nectar | H (♂\$) | dichogamy small pollen loads | Н | Goldblatt et al. (2004) |
| | Heracleum sphondylium Apiaceae | some flies and beetles | nectar and pollen | H (34) | dichogamy | (H) | Zych (2007) |
| Other mites and thrips | | | | | | | |
| • | Hamelia patens Rubiaceae | hummingbirds | nectar | Н | herkogamy | (H) | Paciorek et al. (1995) |
| | Actinidia deliciosa Actinidaceae | bees | pollen | D | ۵. | c. | Kirk (1987) |
| unknown insect ^f | Echium plantagineum Boraginaceae | bees | nectar and pollen | Н | eat pollen from stigmas | e | Kirk, Raju Rao (2006) |
| snails and sluos ^f | Gelsemium sempervirens Loganiaceae | bees | nectar | H (ds) | never observed | c. | Leege & Wolf (2002) |
| Streptocarpus sp. Gesneriace: Gesneriace: Fricoanathus ferrumnens (rearesteet) | Streptocarpus sp. Gesneriaceae | insects | c. | Н | ? presumably do not carry pollen | Н | Neijzing & Zeven (1976) |
| So to Contain Sound | Nothofagus pumilio Nothofagaceae | wind | I | M | preferentially consumes δ flowers, damages φ flowers instead of pollinating | н | Diaz & Kitzberger (2006) |

flowers in the 'wrong' position for stigma contact, or (2) is unable to trip a trigger required for pollination]; dichogamy (thief visits primarily/only male-phase flowers); dioecy (thief visits only male plants); herkogamy (thief is too small to contact stigma while collecting/consuming pollen); and timing (thief visits flowers after opportunities for pollination are over).

^cC=conditional, (C)=probably conditional (some pollination likely but not measured), H=habitual, (H)=probably habitual (pollination by thief unlikely but not measured). Sexual system: A = andromonoecious, D = dioecious, H=hermaphroditic, M = monoecious. Additional information about floral design is included in parentheses when provided by ^b The reasons that pollen thieves are designated as such include: behaviour [thief's pollen-collecting behaviour is mappropriate for pollinating, because it (1) enters or manipulates the original authors: bz=buzz-pollinated, dc=dichogamous (3?=protandrous, 23=protogynous), ds=distylous, hk=herkogamous, keel=keel flower.

Thief acts as a pollen robber, damaging the flower to access pollen.

^d Thief is not native where pollen theft occurs. ^e Pollen-collecting individuals only.

influence plant fitness indirectly when it affects the behaviour of pollinators that visit later. Whereas nectar availability cannot usually be assessed before visitation (but see Goulson, Hawson & Stout, 1998; Raguso, 2004 for special exceptions), pollen often serves as a floral attractant and both nectar- and pollen-collecting pollinators use its absence to identify and avoid flowers that have been visited recently (Dobson & Bergstrom, 2000; Lunau, 2000). Damage to flowers by pollen robbers, which is particularly common for species with flowers that conceal pollen (Renner, 1983; Snow & Roubik, 1987; Gross, 1993), could aggravate this problem if it provides pollinators with additional deterring cues (Renner, 1983; Krupnick, Weis & Campbell, 1999). Regardless of the behavioural mechanism involved, reduced attractiveness to pollinators due to theft would cause pollinator limitation of pollen dispersal.

Unless flowers are damaged, pollen theft from plants that conceal pollen probably affects the behaviour of attracted pollinators in a manner similar to nectar theft, because pollen-collectors must visit flowers to assess pollen abundance. In the case of nectar theft, legitimate pollinators leave inflorescences that have experienced recent theft sooner than they would otherwise (reviewed in Maloof & Inouye, 2000). Pollen-collecting pollinators of plants with concealed pollen probably respond similarly to pollen theft, because they visit partially depleted flowers more rapidly and visit fewer flowers per inflorescence (Buchmann & Cane, 1989; Harder, 1990; Shelly & Villalobos, 2000). The latter response can diminish overall pollen import, but whether pollen export (i.e. successful dispersal) also suffers depends on how this reduction affects self-pollination between flowers (geitonogamy). Because geitonogamy directly reduces the amount of pollen on pollinators that is available for dispersal to other plants (Harder & Barrett, 1995), processes that divert removed pollen from geitonogamy can enhance export. Geitonogamy tends to increase with the number of flowers that each pollinator visits per inflorescence (Barrett, Harder & Cole, 1994; Karron et al., 2004; Harder & Johnson, 2005; Jersáková, Johnson & Kindlmann, 2006), so theft that promotes early visitor departure could reduce geitonogamy and enhance pollen export. However, the geitonogamy-reducing benefits of theft require subsequent pollinators to acquire significant pollen loads despite spending less time on an inflorescence, which seems unlikely if theft has already reduced pollen availability. Overall, the reproductive consequences of pollen theft will depend largely on whether any positive indirect effects of pollen consumption outweigh the negative direct and indirect effects.

II. ECOLOGICAL CONSEQUENCES OF POLLEN THEFT

Studies that consider pollen thieves as floral larcenists rarely measure the effects of theft on pollen export, pollen import or seed production, so information concerning the consequences of pollen theft for plant reproduction must be sought primarily in the literature on inefficient pollination and florivory. Of the 53 studies that identified pollen theft (Table 1), only 12 considered its reproductive consequences (Table 2). The lack of studies that test conclusively (or even attempt to measure) the effects of pollen theft on plant performance is the greatest deficiency of the existing literature on floral larceny. Therefore, we also consider methods for quantifying the effects of pollen theft.

(1) Pollen limitation

Pollen limitation of seed production is a direct, and probably common, ecological effect of pollen theft for plants. Pollen limitation can result from either or both of two causes; quantity limitation occurs when pollinators disperse too few pollen grains to maximize seed set, whereas quality limitation occurs when the genetic quality of delivered pollen is sub-optimal, such that it fertilizes few ovules, or few fertilized embryos develop into seeds (Aizen & Harder, 2007). Although pollen limitation seems to occur commonly (Ashman et al., 2004; Knight et al., 2005), whether this represents chronic pollen limitation or stochastic fluctuations around long-term pollination averages remains to be determined for most cases (Thomson, 2001), as does the relative importance of quantity and quality limitation. Furthermore, the contribution of pollen theft to pollen limitation is largely unexplored.

As pollen thieves consume pollen, theft has considerable potential to cause quantity limitation of both siring success and seed production. Two experimental studies have demonstrated such effects. After observing that grasshoppers consumed many flowering plants of two highly protogynous grass species before they reached male phase, Bertness & Shumway (1992) excluded grasshoppers from grass stands, which increased the number of male-phase plants and produced a fivefold increase in seed set of undamaged ovules. In a study of a more typical situation, Hargreaves (2007) added honey-bee hives during half the flowering season to four populations of bird-pollinated Aloe maculata, which increased pollen removal by up to 50%, but reduced pollen receipt and seed set by up to 70% and 60%, respectively. Both of these studies demonstrate that pollen consumption can severely reduce seed production in plant populations.

The possible role of pollen theft in quality limitation of seed production is less obvious. Theft might cause quality limitation if thieves preferentially collect pollen of higher nutritional value (e.g. protein content or pollen-grain size; Robertson *et al.*, 1999; Hanley *et al.*, 2008) and nutritional quality is correlated with reproductive potential (Robertson *et al.*, 1999; Roulston *et al.*, 2000). Alternatively, theft could improve the genetic quality of pollen receipt indirectly if its effects on floral rewards for pollinators reduced geitonogamy (see Section I.2b), somewhat counteracting the impact of theft on quantity limitation.

(2) Measurement of the impact of pollen theft

The role of pollen theft in pollen limitation is difficult to demonstrate empirically. Given our definition of pollen

Table 2. Summary of studies that assessed the effects of pollen theft on plant fitness.

| Plant species | Pollen | 1 | Consequence of pollen theft for | | |
|---|----------------------------|-----------------------------|---|---|--|
| Family | thief | habitual theft ¹ | Male | Female | Reference |
| Clusia arrudae Clusiaceae | honey bees ² | Н | pollen on anthers and pollinators reduced by \sim 99% | frequency of theft negatively correlated with seed set (r = -0.9) | do Carmo <i>et al.</i> (2004) |
| Melastoma affine Melastomataceae | honey bees ² | Н | thief collected pollen from stigmas; reduced siring success of donors whose pollen was removed | when last visitor was a thief, theft from stigma reduced fruit set by 10-28% and seed set by 53% | Gross & Mackay (1998) |
| Callistemon rugulosus Myrtaceae | honey bees ² | С | apparent reduction in average siring success, given effects on female success | as bee visitation increased, fruit set decreased in open plants, but increased in absence of pollinators (caged plants) | Paton (1993) |
| Campomanesia pubescens Myrtaceae | honey bees ² | С | thieves remove most pollen before pollinating bees are active | pollinator avoid plants being visited by thieves | Torezan-Silingardi & Del-Claro (1998) |
| Correa reflexa Rutaceae | honey bees ² | С | simulation of theft by anther removal from donor flowers reduced pollen deposition on recipient flowers | as for male number of flowers receiving pollen also decreased | Paton (1993) |
| Grevillea barklyana Proteaceae | honey bees ² | С | theft reduced seed set to 50% that of unvisited flowers by preventing delayed selfing | as for male when avian pollinators were common, theft did not result in pollen limitation | Vaughton (1996) |
| Campanula americana Campanulaceae | halictid bees | U | decreased siring success when pollinators rare, no effect when pollinators common | _ | Lau & Galloway (2004) |
| Ceiba pentandra Ceiba acuminata Malvaceae | bees | Н | none: theft occurs after pollination opportunity over | as for male | Baker & Harris (1959); Baker et al. (1971) |
| Pseudobombax ellipticum Malvaceae | | | | | Eguiarte & del Río (1987) |
| Isomeris arborea Capparaceae | beetle ³ | Н | pollen export of undamaged flowers reduced by 50%, no decrease in selfing rate | reduced pollen receipt on damaged flowers, pollen limitation not detected | Krupnick & Weis (1999) |
| Centropogon solanifolius Campanulaceae | fly larvae | Н | theft shortened or eliminated male phase | _ | Weiss (1996) |
| Nothofagus pumilio Nothofagaceae | parakeet ³ | Н | apparent reduction in average siring success, given effects on female success | theft reduced seed density sixfold compared to parrot- excluded branches | Diaz & Kitzberger (2006) |

 $^{^{1}\,}H\!=\!\mathrm{habitual},\,C\!=\!\mathrm{conditional},\,U\!=\!\mathrm{unknown},\,\mathrm{see}$ text for explanation of categories.

theft, it could be assessed most directly by removing thieves from the environment and testing for an increase in pollination and seed set (e.g. Bertness & Shumway, 1992). However, removal of thieves without affecting pollinators is often impossible, so an alternative approach of increasing thief abundance and testing for reduced pollination and seed set may typically be more feasible (e.g. Hargreaves, 2007; also see Thomson, 2001).

² Thief is not native where pollen theft occurs.

³ Thief acts as a pollen robber, damaging flowers to access pollen.

If thief abundance cannot be manipulated, the effect of theft on female success could be assessed by relating temporal or spatial variation in average seed set to measures of both pollen dispersal (e.g. pollen loads on pollinators) and the intensity of theft. The only explicit study of pollen theft from a dioecious species provides perhaps the best example of the detrimental effects of pollen theft on seed set. Pollen-collecting honey bees visited only male plants of *Clusia arrudae*, clearly acting as pollen thieves (do Carmo *et al.*, 2004). Honey bees reduced the pollen loads of legitimate pollinators (resin-collecting bees) by >99%, and seed set of female plants varied negatively with honey-bee abundance (do Carmo *et al.*, 2004).

Pollen theft may affect the siring success of individual plants, even in the absence of pollen limitation in the population as a whole. Definitive demonstration that pollen theft reduces siring success requires tracking pollen from specific pollen donors, so that export can be correlated with the intensity of pollen theft for individual plants. Unfortunately, the most commonly used pollen-tracking techniques for studying pollen export (emasculation of recipient flowers and use of powder pollen analogues: Kearns & Inouye, 1993) are probably of limited use, because they could affect the attractiveness of flowers to pollen collectors. An alternative, indirect method would be to quantify pollen loads acquired by legitimate pollinators (e.g. do Carmo et al., 2004), as reduced pollen loads in the presence of thieves (or simulated theft; Paton, 1993) suggest that some stolen pollen could otherwise have been picked up by pollinators and thus was available for export. Instead of tracking pollen, seed paternity could be assessed with genetic markers, such as allozymes or microsatellites (reviewed in Bernasconi, 2003). The only study of pollen theft to employ paternity analysis to date found that halictid pollen thieves reduced relative pollen export in experimental arrays only when pollinators were scarce (Lau & Galloway, 2004). Assessment of the effects of pollen theft with genetic markers requires careful experimental design to account for post-pollination processes, such as inbreeding depression, and fitness differences among donors. If these problems can be addressed, genetic paternity analysis could also be used to test the effects of floral traits that could ameliorate pollen theft (discussed further in Section III.1).

III. EVOLUTIONARY CONSEQUENCES OF POLLEN THEFT

As with reproduction in general, selection caused by pollen theft should often act asymmetrically with respect to the sex roles. Whenever it reduces pollen export, pollen theft will reduce siring opportunities and so affect phenotypic selection on reproductive traits that promote male function. By contrast, theft will influence selection on female traits only if it reduces pollen import sufficiently to cause pollen limitation. We now consider possible influences of pollen theft on the evolution of floral traits and sexual systems.

(1) Adaptation of floral traits

When pollen theft decreases plant reproduction differentially among phenotypes, selection should favour traits that reduce theft or its impact. As with plant responses to other antagonists, the possible evolutionary responses to pollen theft include tolerance through traits that mitigate the impact of theft, and resistance through traits that reduce the occurrence of theft either via plant or pollen defences against thieves or through escape in time or space. In addition, theft may be alleviated by a third evolutionary option not applicable in response to other antagonists, namely conversion, whereby pollen thieves are co-opted to become pollinators. These evolutionary responses are nonexclusive, and the type(s) that evolve will depend partially on whether thieves act habitually or conditionally; all options may be effective against conditional thieves, whereas habitual thieves probably cannot be converted to pollinators, but may be deterred successfully by anti-theft mechanisms. Although some of these characteristics could arise as correlated responses to interactions with other antagonists or pollinators, we discuss them here as potential responses to theft that could be selected directly.

(a) Tolerance

Many factors influence floral evolution, including pollinators, herbivores, and abiotic conditions (Strauss & Whittall, 2006), which may constrain the evolutionary ability of flowers either to escape or to resist pollen thieves, or to use them as pollinators. Nevertheless, chronic pollen loss to thieves could select for increased pollen production (more flowers or more pollen per flower) if it mitigated the effects of pollen theft, much as mast seeding is proposed to (over)compensate for losses to seed predators (Kelly & Sork, 2002). Unlike induced tolerance to herbivory through compensatory regrowth after attack, tolerance to pollen theft, if it occurs, is more likely preventative, because pollen loss to thieves should be indistinguishable from pollen removal by efficient pollinators. Pollen robbery may provide exceptions, because floral damage can stimulate increased flower production (McCall & Irwin, 2006; Wise, Cummins & De Young, 2008). However, whether such a response could be induced by minor damage, rather than loss of entire flowers or inflorescences, remains unknown.

Elevated pollen production will compensate for theft only if the intensity of theft does not increase proportionally through corresponding increases in thief abundance caused by elevated resource (pollen) availability (numerical response) and/or increased attraction of existing thieves from other, less-rewarding plant species (functional response) (Stanton *et al.*, 1991). Indeed, the best examples of predator satiation by mast seeding are large, dominant species whose seed abundance can control seed-predator populations, reducing their numbers during years of low seed production that separate high-production events (reviewed in Kelly & Sork, 2002). When mast seeding is associated with mast flowering (rather than greater fecundity per flower), plants may escape both pollen and seed predators. However, given

the more direct effect on plant reproduction, escape from seed predators likely affects the evolution of masting more strongly than escape from pollen thieves. In addition, compensatory pollen production may be subject to an evolutionary hurdle that is irrelevant to tolerance of herbivory, namely inbreeding. Because many pollen collectors forage longer on highly rewarding flowers or plants (see Section I.2b), increased pollen production could also increase within- and among-flower self-pollination. Elevated pollen production may therefore be effective only in combination with floral mechanisms that limit pollen removal by individual visitors (Harder & Thomson, 1989).

No studies have tested for compensatory pollen production while controlling for phylogeny, but the literature on pollination by pollen-collecting bees provides related evidence, because their activity should similarly select for increased pollen production (see Cruden, 2000). Buzz pollination, which usually involves pollen-rewarding flowers, is sometimes associated with unusually high pollen production per flower (Buchmann, 1983; L.D. Harder, unpublished data). However, a study of six buzz-pollinated Pyrolaceae species did not find consistently lower pollen production in the two species that also produce nectar (Knudsen & Olesen, 1993), as would be expected if elevated pollen production served to compensate its use as a reward.

(b) Resistance

As with anti-herbivory adaptations, plants can resist antagonists by escaping in time or space, or using chemical and/or physical deterrents. In general, anti-theft adaptations should evolve through selection on male function, as theft reduces individual siring opportunities directly, whereas it usually affects female function indirectly. However, pollen theft can affect female fitness directly in largely self-pollinating species and when it reduces the attractiveness of flowers to primary pollinators. Such cases could promote the evolution of anti-theft traits *via* selection on female fitness.

(i) Escape in time. Different foraging periods for pollen thieves and pollinators could select on the timing of pollen presentation. As most pollen thieves are diurnal insects (Table 1), flowers that open only nocturnally should be less susceptible to pollen theft. Indeed, bat-pollinated Crescentia alata trees whose flowers open later during the evening experienced less pollen theft by bees than trees whose flowers opened earlier (del Río & Bullock, 1990). Earlymorning pollen collection from bat-pollinated species with short-lived flowers is inconsequential for reproduction, because all possible pollination occurs during the preceding night (Baker, Cruden & Baker, 1971; Gribel, Gibbs & Queiroz, 1999). Note that visitors that collect residual pollen after pollination is complete are scavengers, but not pollen thieves under our definition, even if they never contact stigmas. Early-morning anthesis could allow diurnal flowers to reduce pollen theft if pollinators begin foraging before pollen-collecting insects, as is common for nectarivorous birds (e.g. Ramsey, 1988a; Timewell & MacNally, 2004) and possibly some euglossine bees (Pansarin, Bittrich & Amaral, 2006). However, prior access by pollinators is not beneficial when thieves steal pollen directly from stigmas, as stolen pollen will not be replaced by pollinators (Gross & Mackay, 1998).

(ii) Escape in space: cryptic pollen. Pollen can act as a visual or olfactory pollinator attractant (Dobson & Bergstrom, 2000; Lunau, 2000; Pernal & Currie, 2002), so pollen concealment could reduce theft. Visually cryptic or odourless pollen may reduce floral attractiveness to pollen collectors, limiting visitation by thieves. Hermaphroditic flowers of some species produce less-fertile, but more visible, decoy pollen to attract pollen-feeding pollinators, whereas their viable pollen is cryptic, presumably to reduce its consumption (Vogel, 1978; Hrycan & Davis, 2005). Similarly, Faden (1992) found that only the sterile pollen in the upper stamens of nectarless Palisota hirsute flowers produces scent, presumably to lure pollen consumers from the scentless fertile pollen. Cryptic pollen should be especially beneficial in species pollinated by nectarivores, for which pollen is less likely to serve as a signal. Bird-pollinated cacti produce brown-red pollen more often than their insect-pollinated relatives, which generally produce bright yellow pollen (Rose & Barthlott, 1994). Rose & Barthlott (1994) concluded that birds are less likely to groom cryptic, dark pollen from their bills, as has been proposed for bird-pollinated orchids with dark pollinia (Dressler, 1971; Inouve, 1975). However, cactus pollen accumulates primarily on facial feathers where birds cannot see it, so cryptic pollen may serve primarily to lessen detection by pollen thieves, as many pollencollecting insects innately prefer highly contrasting and/or yellow pollen (Lunau, 2000).

(iii) Escape in space: inaccessible pollen. Consistent differences between pollinators and pollen thieves in size, strength, or ability may select for physical concealment of pollen and/or trigger mechanisms that must be tripped to expose it. Ramsey (1988a, b) suggested that the explosive opening of Banksia menziensii flowers, which can be triggered only by birds, evolved to limit pollen loss to pollenthieving staphylinid beetles. Flowers of some species, such as those in the Lecythidaceae (Mori, Orchard & Prance, 1980), Fabaceae (Yeo, 1993; Westerkamp, 1997), and Polygalaceae (Westerkamp, 1999), have hood-like petals or other protective structures that must be pushed aside to access rewards, preventing access by smaller visitors. Buzz pollination, which requires vibration of poricidal anthers to release pollen, typically occurs in bee-pollinated plants that provide only pollen as a pollinator reward (Buchmann, 1983) and enables plant species to restrict pollen access to legitimate pollinators (Harder & Barclay, 1994). Nevertheless, some buzz-pollinated species suffer pollen theft from small bees that can buzz only individual anthers and so do not contact stigmas (Renner, 1983), Trigona bees that chew poricidal anthers to access pollen (Renner, 1983; Snow & Roubik, 1987; Gross, 1993), or theft of unprotected pollen on stigmas (Gross & Mackay,

(iv) Deterrents: pollen structure. Pollen that is unattractive or detrimental to pollen thieves could eliminate pollen theft altogether, especially for plants not pollinated by

pollen consumers. For example, pollen may be rendered inedible by packaging into pollinia, as in most orchids (Orchidaceae; Johnson & Edwards, 2000) and milkweeds (Asclepiadaceae; Verhoeven & Venter, 2001). Many of the most common pollen consumers, including bees, do not collect or consume pollinia (Thorp, 2000). Certain pollen feeders may also be deterred by the structure of individual grains, such as the long spines on pollen grains of cotton (Gossypium hirsutum) and okra (Abelmoschus esculentus; Vaissière & Vinson 1994).

(v) Deterrents: chemical defence. Chemical defences in leaves and bark are well known for their ability to deter herbivores, and similar chemicals can exist in floral tissues (McCall & Irwin, 2006). Floral 'toxins' have been suggested as a deterrent against corolla-piercing nectar robbers (Inouye, 1983 and references therein) and may also defend against corolla- or anther-piercing pollen robbers, such as Trigona bees. Alternatively, sticky, glandular corollas can dissuade potential nectar robbers from landing to access nectar through pierced corollas (Schremmer, 1953), and could presumably deter pollen robbers from piercing corollas as well.

In addition to well-documented chemicals in floral and leaf tissues, pollen itself can contain diverse secondary compounds, including many that are repellent or toxic to certain animals (Detzel & Wink, 1993; Roulston & Cane, 2000; Pimentel de Carvalho & Message, 2004; Cintra et al., 2005). As with repellent nectar and floral toxins, repellent or toxic pollen may simply be a pleiotropic consequence of chemical defence against herbivores in other tissues (Adler, 2000), but it may also serve to filter floral visitors (Johnson, Hargreaves & Brown, 2006). For example, some volatile compounds in the pollen odours of wind-pollinated plants likely evolved to deter pollen thieves (Dobson & Bergstrom, 2000). The effectiveness of deterrence depends on the ability of pollen thieves to recognize noxious pollen. Several laboratory studies have shown that honey bees can distinguish between concentrations of secondary compounds in either pollen (phenolics; Liu et al., 2006), or sugar solutions (amygdalin; London-Shafir, Shafir & Eisikowitch, 2003), and feed preferentially on pollen with lower concentrations (but see Liu et al., 2004). Furthermore, honey bees often avoid noxious pollen if other pollen sources are available (London-Shafir et al., 2003; Pimentel de Carvalho & Message, 2004; Liu et al., 2006).

The evolution of repellent or toxic pollen as an anti-theft mechanism probably depends on its effects on primary pollinators. Such pollen should evolve more often when primary pollinators do not consume pollen (e.g. nectarfeeding birds, wind), in which case thief deterrence will not conflict with pollination. However, toxic pollen has also evolved in plants pollinated by pollen consumers (e.g. Cintra, Malaspina & Bueno, 2003; Pimentel de Carvalho & Message, 2004). This apparent paradox may simply be an artefact of toxicity studies that have almost exclusively considered honey bees, which are commercially important, but often non-native, pollinators. Interestingly, Cintra et al. (2003) found that anthers of two Brazilian trees, Stryphnodendron adstringens (Fabaceae) and Dimorphandra mollis (Caesalpiniaceae), were significantly less lethal to native bee pollinators than to introduced honey bees. Such contrasting effects suggest that pollen toxicity could evolve to deter pollen thieves even for species pollinated by pollen consumers, as long as toxicity affected thieves more than pollen-collecting primary pollinators, especially if thieves can access more palatable options.

(c) Converting thieves into pollinators

When pollen theft causes pollen limitation within a population, selection through female fitness would not favour anti-theft mechanisms *per se*, as no benefit accrues to specific individuals. Instead, pollen theft should favour traits that cause pollen collectors to serve as pollinators, rather than as thieves. Most pollen collectors pollinate when their foraging brings them into contact with stigmas, but they act as thieves when this does not occur. This is especially true of conditional thieves, who can transfer a few pollen grains to stigmas, even though they generally act as thieves. Two suites of floral traits primarily determine whether pollen collectors steal pollen or pollinate: the separation of pollen-presenting organs from receptive stigmas, and the attractive features of female or female-phase flowers.

In perfect (bisexual) flowers, male and female function can be separated in space (herkogamy; Webb & Lloyd, 1986), or time (dichogamy; Lloyd & Webb, 1986). As herkogamy increases, so does the proportion of visitors whose bodies are too small to contact stigmas as they gather pollen (Table 1). For example, Trigona spp. visitors to Dalechampia magnoliifolia deposit pollen in flowers with small anther-stigma separation, but not in those with wide separation (Armbruster et al., 1989). Similarly, as dichogamy increases, pollen collectors are more likely to visit only functionally male flowers and avoid female-phase flowers from which the pollen has been either removed (protandry), or not yet been presented (protogyny; Table 1). For example, Ish-Am & Eisikowitch (1993) reported that nectar-collecting honey bees were the primary pollinators of avocado *Persea americana*, whereas pollen-collecting honey bees acted as thieves because they rarely visited femalephase flowers. Of the 51 reported cases of pollen theft from hermaphroditic species that identified why a visitor was a thief (Table 1; each case representing one plant species and one thief species or group), 22 resulted from herkogamy and eight from dichogamy. Thus, flowers with reduced herkogamy and/or dichogamy are more likely to be pollinated than thieved by pollen collectors. However, both traits serve important roles in reducing self-pollination and interference between the sex roles (Lloyd & Webb, 1986; Webb & Lloyd, 1986), which will tend to counteract selection imposed by pollen theft.

In general, the effect of dichogamy on pollen theft will depend on whether pollen collectors visit functionally female flowers, which in turn depends largely on their ability to distinguish female flowers from functionally male flowers (e.g. Ashman *et al.*, 2005). Some hermaphroditic species possess pollen-mimicking structures to attract pollen-collecting pollinators to female-phase flowers, including imitation stamens, and pollen-like style coloration or corolla patterns (Lunau, 2000). Similarly, some species pollinated by pollen-collecting bees produce both

conspicuous 'feeding' anthers (often with dysfunctional pollen) and inconspicuous 'pollinating' anthers (heteranthery; Jesson & Barrett, 2003). Such adaptations could be sufficient to convert pollen thieves into pollinators without compromising mechanisms that reduce self-pollination.

Concealment of pollen within floral structures can also manipulate pollen collectors into pollinating, instead of thieving. If pollen availability cannot be detected without visiting a flower (e.g. poricidal anthers; Buchmann, 1983), pollen collectors may be deceived into visiting female-phase flowers and effecting pollination. Furthermore, structures that conceal pollen may force insects to contact the stigma on their way into a flower. For example, the complex keel flowers of some legumes, which dispense hidden pollen in relatively controlled amounts (Harder & Wilson, 1994) and force most pollen collectors to contact stigmas, have been interpreted as an adaptation for the use of pollen-collecting bees as primary pollinators (Westerkamp, 1997). Nectar guides may also help reduce the incidence of theft by promoting landing and feeding behaviours that enhance stigma contact (Ushimaru, Watanabe & Nakata, 2007). In general, plants pollinated primarily by pollen collectors may be less likely to suffer from pollen theft than those that reward with nectar, as they already possess mechanisms to ensure that pollen collection promotes pollen deposition. For such plants, we expect that most pollen theft involves animals that bypass pollen-dispensing mechanisms, such as pollen-robbing by Trigona bees that pierce poricidal anthers (e.g. Renner, 1983; Young, 1983; Gross, 1993).

(2) Sexual-system evolution

In addition to floral traits, pollen theft may influence selection on aspects of plant sexual systems, including the occurrence and form of sexual polymorphism and mechanisms of self-pollination. Dioecy is the most extreme sexual polymorphism, with distinct male and female plants. From a pollen-collector's perspective, pollenless female plants are akin to a distinct, non-rewarding species. As long as pollencollecting insects can detect pollen (by sensing it directly or recognizing male flowers), they need visit only male plants, and consequently will never deposit pollen on female flowers (Ashman, 2000). Severe and chronic pollen theft should therefore select against complete sexual segregation between male and female plants. Indeed, the high frequency of dioecy on islands that lack native social, pollen-collecting bees, including New Zealand (Godley, 1975), Hawaii (Carlquist, 1974; Sakai et al., 1995), Mauritius (Baker & Cox, 1984) and the Ogasawara Islands of Japan (Abe, 2006), may partially reflect the consequences of relief from pollen theft.

If pollen theft selects against pollenless female plants or flowers, it could promote the evolution of alternative forms of sexual dimorphism, or mechanisms to entice pollen collectors to visit female flowers. For example, Sakai (2001) speculated that androdioecy may have evolved from dioecy in *Castilla elasticus* to attract pollen-feeding thrips to pollinate otherwise unrewarding female plants.

Alternatively, pollen robbery that causes significant floral damage could help maintain female plants in gynodioecious species, or promote dioecy (reviewed in Strauss & Whittall, 2006). Pollen theft may also select for cryptic dioecy, in which female plants produce sterile pollen to attract pollen-collecting pollinators (Anderson & Symon, 1988; Mayer & Charlesworth, 1991; Kawagoe & Suzuki, 2004), or malemimicry, in which female plants mimic the scent of male flowers, achieving pollination by deception (e.g. figs; Grison-Pige *et al.*, 2001).

Pollen theft could also influence the evolution and maintenance of heterostyly, if pollen foragers visit morphs with exposed, long-level anthers preferentially (e.g. Wolfe & Barrett, 1987; Husband & Barrett, 1992) with sufficient frequency that they reduce intermorph pollination by indiscriminate nectar foragers. In this manner, pollen theft could deter the evolution of heterostyly when it might otherwise be advantageous. Furthermore, recruitment of pollen thieves to the fauna visiting flowers of a functionally heterostylous species could precipitate the breakdown of this sexual system. Beach & Bawa (1980) proposed that a pollinator shift from nectar to pollen foragers could lead to the evolution of dioecy from distyly, with the long-styled morph (with hidden anthers) increasingly acting as females and the short-styled morph (with exposed anthers) acting as males. However, this transition requires that pollen foragers visit long-styled flowers regularly, which is unlikely for pollen thieves, given the inaccessibility of pollen on their short-level anthers. Instead, intense pollen theft could cause the reversion of heterostyly to a monomorphic state with both anthers and stigmas exposed.

Finally, pollen theft could affect the evolution of reproductive assurance in self-compatible species. Delayed selfing, whereby flowers self-pollinate autonomously after opportunities for cross-pollination have largely passed, is arguably the ideal reproductive-assurance strategy because, unlike prior selfing or apomixis, it does not compromise opportunities for outcrossing (Lloyd, 1992; Eckert, Samis & Dart, 2006). However, delayed selfing requires limited pollen removal, so that self-pollen remains to pollinate unfertilized ovules. Obviously, pollen removal by thieves reduces the opportunity for delayed selfing (Vaughton, 1996). Accordingly, selection for reproductive assurance in plants that experience intense pollen theft may favour apomixis (Renner, 1983), or autonomous self-pollination before pollen is exposed to floral visitors (van Kleunen, Fischer & Johnson, 2007).

IV. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Pollen theft influences the ecology and evolution of pollination systems directly and significantly, but strangely has been overlooked despite growing interest in cheating on mutualisms and floral larceny. Pollen theft may contribute to many aspects of pollination biology, including the widespread occurrence of pollen limitation, and may cause selection for unusual floral adaptations, such as cryptic or toxic pollen. Despite formidable methodological problems in studying pollen theft, including the difficulties of quantifying pollen (rather than gene) dispersal and of manipulating pollen theft

at the population level, it will likely receive much more future attention because of its impacts on many fundamental aspects of plant reproduction.

- (2) Both the frequency of pollen theft and its spatial and temporal variation are very poorly known. Pollen theft probably occurs much more frequently than suggested by the existing literature (summarized in Table 1), because pollination studies typically focus on effective pollinators. Quantification of temporal and spatial variation in pollen theft will enable assessment of its role in the selection of plant reproduction, whereas more complete documentation of its occurrence will clarify the associations revealed by this review, namely whether eusocial bees act most commonly as thieves and plant species with pronounced separation of sex roles in space and/or time are most susceptible to theft.
- (3) Pollen theft can clearly impede plant reproduction (Table 2), but the frequency of this effect remains unknown. More complete tests of the effects of pollen theft on plant reproduction, especially direct manipulation of thief abundance, are needed to assess its general ecological and evolutionary importance. Of particular urgency from a conservation perspective is the need to understand the ecological consequences of pollen theft by exotic eusocial bees for native plant species. Finally, the unknown importance of pollen theft compared to that of other interactions that can limit reproductive potential, such as seed and seedling predation, is one aspect of a general lack of comprehensive studies that examine reproduction both before and after seed production.
- (4) According to our definition, whether pollen foragers that deposit few grains on stigmas act as inefficient pollinators or conditional pollen thieves depends on the composition and pollination effectiveness of other flower visitors. Furthermore, pollen thieves can act simultaneously as antagonists for some plant species, but as mutualists for others. Indeed, the possibility that a plant species might maintain populations of animals that act as its 'thieves', but as pollinators for other species that flower at different times (Baker *et al.*, 1971) awaits examination. Thus, both the incidence and effects of pollen theft should often depend on the community context within which it occurs. This context is a poorly considered aspect of pollination as a whole, and warrants greater attention in future studies of pollen theft.
- (5) We have interpreted various aspects of flowers and pollen as potential pollen-thief deterrents, but the actual role of such traits in preventing or mitigating pollen theft remains to be tested. One of the least explored and most interesting of these possible adaptations is repellent, toxic or inedible pollen. If noxious pollen evolves specifically to deter thieves, rather than as a pleiotropic effect of vegetative defences, it should be more common in plants whose primary pollinators do not consume pollen. Even if toxic or repellent pollen evolves initially through pleiotropy, if it serves to deter thieves then pollen-consuming pollinators should be less susceptible to the deterrent (chemical or structural) than the primary pollen thieves, and individual plants with more deterrent pollen should sire more offspring than less deterrent individuals.

- (6) By differentially impacting floral morphs with more accessible pollen, pollen theft has the potential to influence the evolution of polymorphic sexual systems, but these influences have not been explored empirically. The possibilities that dioecy evolves more frequently in the absence of social pollen collectors and that cryptic dioecy is associated with the presence of pollen thieves are particularly intriguing. Situations involving introduced pollen thieves, especially honey bees, are prime candidates for exploring this aspect of pollen theft (e.g. Sjöström & Gross, 2006).
- (7) As one of the richest sources of protein produced by plants, pollen is a valuable resource for animals. Animals that visit flowers to consume or collect pollen are self-motivated and do not act specifically to promote pollination; when their foraging activity is mismatched in space or time with receptive stigmas, traits that otherwise promote pollination instead enable theft. Given the likely frequency and potential ecological and evolutionary consequences of such mismatches, pollen theft warrants broader consideration and analysis.

V. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank D. Inouye, J. D. Thomson and an anonymous reviewer for helpful comments on previous versions of this manuscript. This research was supported financially by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (A.L.H and L.D.H) and the National Research Foundation of South Africa (S.D.J).

VI. REFERENCES

ABE, T. (2006). Threatened pollination systems in native flora of the Ogasawara (Bonin) Islands. *Annals of Botany* **98**, 317–334.

ADLER, L. (2000). The ecological significance of toxic nectar. *Oikos* **91**, 409–420.

AIZEN, M. A. & HARDER, L. D. (2007). Expanding the limits of the pollen-limitation concept: effects of pollen quantity and quality. *Ecology* 88, 271–281.

Anderson, G. J. & Symon, D. (1988). Insect foragers on Solanum flowers in Australia. Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden 75, 842–852.

Armbruster, W. S., Keller, S., Matsuki, M. & Clausen, T. P. (1989). Pollination of *Dalechampia magnoliifolia* (Euphorbiaceae) by male euglossine bees. *American Journal of Botany* **76**, 1279–1285.

ASHMAN, T. L. (2000). Pollinator selectivity and its implications for the evolution of dioecy and sexual dimorphism. *Ecology* 81, 2577–2591.

Ashman, T. L., Bradburn, M., Cole, D. H., Blaney, B. H. & Raguso, R. A. (2005). The scent of a male: the role of floral volatiles in pollination of a gender dimorphic plant. *Ecology* **86**, 2099–2105.

Ashman, T. L., Knight, T. M., Steets, J. A., Amarasekare, P., Burd, M., Campbell, D. R., Dudash, M. R., Johnston, M. O., Mazer, S. J., Mitchell, R. J., Morgan, M. T. & Wilson, W. G.

- (2004). Pollen limitation of plant reproduction: ecological and evolutionary causes and consequences. *Ecology* **85**, 2408–2421.
- BAKER, H. G. & Cox, P. A. (1984). Further thoughts on dioecism and islands. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden* 71, 244–253.
- BAKER, H. G., CRUDEN, R. W. & BAKER, I. (1971). Minor parasitism in pollination biology and its community function: the case of *Ceiba acuminata*. *BioScience* 21, 1127–1129.
- BAKER, H. G. & HARRIS, B. J. (1957). The pollination of *Parkia* by bats and its attendant evolutionary problems. *Evolution* 11, 449–460.
- BAKER, H. G. & HARRIS, B. J. (1959). Bat-pollination of the silk-cotton tree, Ceiba pentandra (L.) Gaertn. (sensu lato), in Ghana. Journal of the West African Scientific Association 4, 1–9.
- BARRETT, S. C. H., HARDER, L. D. & COLE, W. W. (1994). Effects of flower number and position on self-fertilization in experimental populations of *Eichhornia paniculata* (Pontederiaceae). *Functional Ecology* 8, 526–535.
- BARROWS, E. M., CHABOT, M. R., MICHENER, C. D. & SNYDER, T. P. (1976). Foraging and mating behavior in *Perdita texana* (Hymenoptera: Andrenidae). *Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society* 49, 275–279.
- BEACH, J. & BAWA, K. (1980). Role of pollinators in the evolution of dioecy from distyly. *Evolution* 34, 1138–1142.
- Bernasconi, G. (2003). Seed paternity in flowering plants: an evolutionary perspective. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics* **6**, 149–158.
- Bertness, M. D. & Shumway, S. W. (1992). Consumer driven pollen limitation of seed production in marsh grasses. *American Journal of Botany* 79, 288–293.
- BLAIR, A. C. & WOLFE, L. M. (2007). The association between floral longevity and pollen removal, pollen receipt, and fruit production in flame azalea (*Rhododendron calendulaceum*). Canadian Journal of Botany-Revue Canadienne de Botanique 85, 414–419.
- BRONSTEIN, J. L. (2001). The exploitation of mutualisms. *Ecology Letters* 4, 277–287.
- Buchmann, S. L. (1983). Buzz pollination in angiosperms. In *Handbook of experimental pollination biology* (ed. C. E. Jones and J. H. Cane), pp. 73–113. Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York.
- BUCHMANN, S. L. & CANE, J. H. (1989). Bees assess pollen returns while sonicating *Solanum* flowers. *Oecologia* 81, 289–294.
- BULLOCK, S. H., DEL Río, C. M. & AYALA, R. (1989). Bee visitation rates to trees of *Prockia crucis* differing in flower number. *Oecologia* 78, 389–393.
- Canela, M. B. F. & Sazima, M. (2005). The pollination of *Bromelia antiacantha* (Bromeliaceae) in Southeastern Brazil: ornithophilous versus melittophilous features. *Plant Biology* 7, 411–416.
- CARLQUIST, S. (1974). Island biology. Columbia University Press, New York.
- CINTRA, P., MALASPINA, O. & BUENO, O. C. (2003). Toxicity of barbatimao to *Apis mellifera* and *Scaptotrigona postica*, under laboratory conditions. *Journal of Apicultural Research* **42**, 9–12.
- Cintra, P., Malaspina, O., Bueno, O. C., Petacci, F., Fernandes, J. B., Vieira, P. C. & da Silva, M. F. G. F. (2005). Oral toxicity of chemical substances found in *Dimorphandra mollis* (Caesalpiniaceae) against honeybees (*Apis mellifera*) (Hymenoptera: Apidae). *Sociobiology* 45, 141–149.
- CRUDEN, R. W. (2000). Pollen grains: why so many? Plant Systematics and Evolution 222, 143–165.
- Danforth, B. N., Sipes, S., Fang, J. & Brady, S. G. (2006). The history of early bee diversification based on five genes plus morphology. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **103**, 15118–15123.

- DEL Río, C. M. & BULLOCK, S. H. (1990). Parasitismo floral por abejas sociales (Meliponinae; Apidae) en el árbol quiropterófilo Crescentia alata (Bignoniaceae). Boletin de la Sociedad Botanica de Mexico 50, 69–76.
- Detzel, A. & Wink, M. (1993). Attraction, deterrence or intoxication of bees (*Apis mellifera*) by plant allelochemicals. *Chemoecology* **4**, 8–18.
- DIAZ, S. & KITZBERGER, T. (2006). High Nothofagus flower consumption and pollen emptying in the southern South American austral parakeet (Enicognathus ferrugineus). Austral Ecology 31, 759–766.
- Dobson, H. E. M. & Bergstrom, G. (2000). The ecology and evolution of pollen odors. *Plant Systematics and Evolution* **222**, 63–87.
- DO CARMO, R. M., FRANCESCHINELLI, E. V. & DA SILVEIRA, F. A. (2004). Introduced honeybees (*Apis mellifera*) reduce pollination success without affecting the floral resource taken by native pollinators. *Biotropica* **36**, 371–376.
- Dressler, R. (1971). Dark pollinia in hummingbird-pollinated orchids or Do hummingbirds suffer from strabismus? *American Naturalist* 105, 80–83.
- ECKERT, C., SAMIS, K. & DART, S. (2006). Reproductive assurance and the evolution of uniparental reproduction in flowering plants. In *Ecology and evolution of flowers* (ed. L. D. Harder and S. C. H. Barrett), pp. 183–203. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- EGUIARTE, L. E. & DEL Río, C. M. (1987). El néctar y el polen como recursos: el papel ecológico de los visitantes a las flores de *Pseudobombax ellipticum* (H.B.K.) Dugand. *Biotropica* **19**, 74–82.
- FADEN, R. B. (1992). Floral attraction and floral hairs in the Commelinaceae. Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden 79, 46–52.
- GARCÍA, M. T. & HOC, P. S. (1998). Flower biology of Passiflora foetida (Passifloraceae). Revista de Biologia Tropical 46, 191–201.
- GODLEY, E. J. (1975). Flora and vegetation. In Biogeography and ecology in New Zealand, vol. 27. Monographiae Biologicae (ed. G. Kuschel), pp. 177–230. Junk, Dr W, The Hague.
- Goldblatt, P., Bernhardt, P., Vogan, P. & Manning, J. C. (2004). Pollination by fungus gnats (Diptera: Mycetophilidae) and self-recognition sites in *Tolmiea menziesii* (Saxifragaceae). *Plant Systematics and Evolution* **244**, 55–67.
- GOULSON, D. (2003). Effects of introduced bees on native ecosystems. *Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics* **34**, 1–26.
- GOULSON, D., HAWSON, S. A. & STOUT, J. C. (1998). Foraging bumblebees avoid flowers already visited by conspecifics or by other bumblebee species. *Animal Behaviour* 55, 199–206.
- GRIBEL, R., GIBBS, P. E. & QUEIROZ, A. L. (1999). Flowering phenology and pollination biology of *Ceiba pentandra* (Bombacaceae) in Central Amazonia. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 15, 247–263.
- GRISON-PIGE, L., BESSIERE, J. M., TURLINGS, T. C. J., KJELLBERG, F., ROY, J. & HOSSAERT-MCKEY, M. M. (2001). Limited intersex mimicry of floral odour in *Ficus carica. Functional Ecology* 15, 551–558.
- GROSS, C. L. (1993). The breeding system and pollinators of Melastoma affine (Melastomataceae); a pioneer shrub in tropical Australia. Biotropica 25, 468–474.
- GROSS, C. L. & MACKAY, D. (1998). Honeybees reduce fitness in the pioneer shrub Melastoma affine (Melastomataceae). Biological Conservation 86, 169–178.
- HANLEY, M., FRANCO, M., PICHON, S., DARVILL, B. & GOULSON, D. (2008). Breeding system, pollinator choice and variation in pollen quality in British herbaceous plants. *Functional Ecology* 22, 592–598.

- HARDER, L. D. (1990). Behavioral responses by bumble bees to variation in pollen availability. *Oecologia* 85, 41–47.
- HARDER, L. D. (2000). Pollen dispersal and the floral diversity of monocotyledons. In *Monocots: Systematics and evolution* (ed. K. L. Wilson and D. Morrison), pp. 243–257. CSIRO Publishing, Melbourne.
- HARDER, L. D. & BARCLAY, R. M. R. (1994). The functional significance of poricidal anthers and buzz pollination: controlled pollen removal from *Dodecatheon. Functional Ecology* 8, 509–517.
- HARDER, L. D. & BARRETT, S. C. H. (1995). Mating cost of large floral displays in hermaphrodite plants. *Nature* **373**, 512–515.
- HARDER, L. D. & JOHNSON, S. D. (2005). Adaptive plasticity of floral display size in animal-pollinated plants. Proceedings of the Royal Society Biological Sciences Series B 272, 2651–2657.
- HARDER, L. D. & JOHNSON, S. D. (2008). Function and evolution of aggregated pollen in angiosperms. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 169, 59–78.
- HARDER, L. D. & ROUTLEY, M. B. (2006). Pollen and ovule fates and reproductive performance by flowering plants. In *Ecology* and evolution of flowers (ed. L. D. Harder and S. C. H. Barrett), pp. 61–80. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- HARDER, L. D. & THOMSON, J. D. (1989). Evolutionary options for maximizing pollen dispersal of animal-pollinated plants. *American Naturalist* 133, 323–344.
- HARDER, L. D. & WILSON, W. G. (1994). Floral evolution and male reproductive success: optimal dispensing schedules for pollen dispersal by animal-pollinated plants. *Evolutionary Ecology* 8, 542–559.
- HARDER, L. D. & WILSON, W. G. (1997). Theoretical perspectives on pollination. *Acta Horticulturae* 437, 83–101.
- HARGREAVES, A. L. (2007). The ecological effects of pollen-stealing insects on plant reproductive success, M.Sc. University of Calgary.
- HOLLOWAY, B. A. (1976). Pollen-feeding in hover-flies (Diptera: Syrphidae). *New Zealand Journal of Zoology* **3**, 339–350.
- HRYCAN, W. C. & DAVIS, A. R. (2005). Comparative structure and pollen production of the stamens and pollinator-deceptive staminodes of *Commelina coelestis* and *C. dianthifolia* (Commelinaceae). *Annals of Botany* 95, 1113–1130.
- Hurd, P. D. & Linsley, E. G. (1963). Pollination of the unicorn plant (Martyniaceae) by an oligolectic, corolla-cutting bee. Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society 36, 248–252.
- Husband, B. & Barrett, S. (1992). Pollinator visitation in populations of tristylous *Eichhornia paniculata* in northeastern Brazil. *Oecologia* 89, 365–371.
- INOUYE, D. (1975). Why don't more hummingbird-pollinated flowers have dark-colored pollen? American Naturalist 109, 377–378.
- INOUYE, D. (1983). The ecology of nectar robbing. In *The biology of nectaries* (ed. B. Bentley and T. Elias), pp. 153–173. Columbia University Press, New York, New York USA.
- Inouye, D., Gill, D., Dudash, M. & Fenster, C. (1994). A model and lexicon for pollen fate. *American Journal of Botany* **81**, 1517–1530.
- Inouye, D. W. (1980). The terminology of floral larceny. *Ecology* **61**, 1251–1253.
- IRWIN, R. E., BRODY, A. K. & WASER, N. M. (2001). The impact of floral larceny on individuals, populations, and communities. *Oecologia* 129, 161–168.
- ISH-AM, G. & EISIKOWITCH, D. (1993). The behavior of honey bees (Apis mellifera) visiting avocado (Persea americana) flowers and their contribution to its pollination. Journal of Apicultural Research 32, 175–186.

- JERSÁKOVÁ, J., JOHNSON, S. D. & KINDLMANN, P. (2006). Mechanisms and evolution of deceptive pollination in orchids. *Biological Reviews* 81, 219–235.
- JESSON, L. K. & BARRETT, S. C. H. (2003). The comparative biology of mirror-image flowers. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 164, S237–S249.
- JOHNSON, S. D. & EDWARDS, T. J. (2000). The structure and function of orchid pollinaria. *Plant Systematics and Evolution* 222, 243–269
- JOHNSON, S. D., HARGREAVES, A. L. & BROWN, M. (2006). Dark, bitter-tasting nectar functions as a filter of flower visitors in a bird-pollinated plant. *Ecology* 87, 2709–2716.
- JOHNSON, S. G., DELPH, L. F. & ELDERKIN, C. L. (1995). The effect of petal-size manipulation on pollen-removal, seed set, and insect-visitor behavior in *Campanula americana*. *Oecologia* 102, 174–179.
- KARRON, J. D., MITCHELL, R. J., HOLMQUIST, K., BELL, J. & FUNK, B. (2004). The influence of floral display size on selfing rates in Minulus ringens. Heredity 92, 242–248.
- KAWAGOE, T. & SUZUKI, N. (2004). Cryptic dioecy in Actinidia polygama: a test of the pollinator attraction hypothesis. Canadian Journal of Botany 82, 214–218.
- Kearns, C. & Inouye, D. (1993). *Techniques for Pollination Biologists*. University Press of Colorado, Niwot, CO.
- Kelly, D. & Sork, V. L. (2002). Mast seeding in perennial plants: why, how, where? Annual Review Of Ecology And Systematics 33, 427–447.
- Kirk, W. D. J. (1987). How much pollen can thrips destroy? Ecological Entomology 12, 31–40.
- KNIGHT, T. M., STEETS, J. A., VAMOSI, J. C., MAZER, S. J., BURD, M., CAMPBELL, D. R., DUDASH, M. R., JOHNSTON, M. O., MITCHELL, R. J. & ASHMAN, T. L. (2005). Pollen limitation of plant reproduction: pattern and process. *Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics* 36, 467–497.
- KNUDSEN, J. T. & OLESEN, J. M. (1993). Buzz-pollination and patterns in sexual traits in North European Pyrolaceae. American Journal of Botany 80, 900–913.
- KRUPNICK, G. A. & WEIS, A. E. (1999). The effect of floral herbivory on male and female reproductive success in *Isomeris arborea*. Ecology 80, 135–149.
- KRUPNICK, G. A., WEIS, A. E. & CAMPBELL, D. R. (1999). The consequences of floral herbivory for pollinator service to *Isomeris arborea*. *Ecology* 80, 125–134.
- LAU, J. A. & GALLOWAY, L. F. (2004). Effects of low-efficiency pollinators on plant fitness and floral trait evolution in *Campanula americana* (Campanulaceae). *Oecologia* 141, 577–583.
- LEEGE, L. M. & WOLFE, L. M. (2002). Do floral herbivores respond to variation in flower characteristics in *Gelsemium sempervirens* (Loganiaceae), a distylous vine? *American Journal of Botany* 89, 1270–1274.
- LIU, F. L., FU, W. J., YANG, D. R., PENG, Y. Q., ZHANG, X. W. & HE, J. Z. (2004). Reinforcement of bee-plant interaction by phenolics in food. *Journal of Apicultural Research* 43, 155–157.
- LIU, F. L., ZHANG, X. W., CHAI, J. P. & YANG, D. R. (2006). Pollen phenolics and regulation of pollen foraging in honeybee colony. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 59, 582–588.
- LLOYD, D. G. (1992). Self-fertilization and cross-fertilization in plants. 2. The selection of self-fertilization. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 153, 370–380.
- Lloyd, D. G. & Webb, C. J. (1986). The avoidance of interference between the presentation of pollen and stigmas in Angiosperms
 1. Dichogamy. New Zealand Journal of Botany 24, 135–162.

- LONDON-SHAFIR, I., SHAFIR, S. & EISIKOWITCH, D. (2003).
 Amygdalin in almond nectar and pollen: facts and possible roles. *Plant Systematics and Evolution* 238, 87–95.
- LUNAU, K. (2000). The ecology and evolution of visual pollen signals. Plant Systematics and Evolution 222, 89–111.
- LUNDGREN, J., RAZZAK, A. & WIEDENMANN, R. (2004). Population reponses and food consumption by predators *Coleomegilla maculata* and *Harmonia axyridis* (Coleptera: Coccinellidae) during anthesis in an Illinois cornfield. *Environmental Entomology* 33, 958–963.
- MALOOF, J. E. & INOUYE, D. W. (2000). Are nectar robbers cheaters or mutualists? *Ecology* **81**, 2651–2661.
- MAYER, S. S. & CHARLESWORTH, D. (1991). Cryptic dioecy in flowering plants. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **6**, 320–325.
- McCall, A. C. & Irwin, R. E. (2006). Florivory: the intersection of pollination and herbivory. *Ecology Letters* **9**, 1351–1365.
- McDade, L. A. & Kinsman, S. (1980). The impact of floral parasitism in two neotropical hummingbird-pollinated plantspecies. *Evolution* 34, 944–958.
- MEDAN, D. & D'AMBROGIO, A. C. (1998). Reproductive biology of the andromonoecious shrub Trevoa quinquenervia (Rhamnaceae). Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society 126, 191–206.
- MICHENER, C. D. (1979). Biogeography of the bees. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden* **66**, 277–347.
- Moco, M. C. D. & Pinheiro, M. C. B. (1999). Pollination ecology of Swartzia apetala Raddi var. apetala (Leguminosae-Papilionoideae). Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology 42, 415–423.
- MORI, S. A., ORCHARD, J. E. & PRANCE, G. T. (1980). Intrafloral pollen differentiation in the New World Lecythidaceae, subfamily Lecythidoideae. *Science* 209, 400–403.
- NEIJZING, M. G. & ZEVEN, A. C. (1976). Anther eating by snails and slugs in *Streptocarpus*. Acta Botanica Neerlandica 25, 337–339.
- ORTEGA, E., DICENTA, F. & EGEA, J. (2007). Rain effect on pollenstigma adhesion and fertilization in almond. *Scientia Horticulturae* 112, 345–348.
- Paciorek, C. J., Moyer, B. R., Levin, R. A. & Halpern, S. L. (1995). Pollen consumption by the hummingbird flower mite *Proctolaelaps kirmsei* and possible fitness effects on *Hamelia patens*. *Biotropica* 27, 258–262.
- PANSARIN, E. R., BITTRICH, V. & AMARAL, M. C. E. (2006). At daybreak: reproductive biology and isolating mechanisms of *Cirrhaea dependens* (Orchidaceae). *Plant Biology* 8, 494–502.
- Paton, D. C. (1993). Honeybees in the Australian environment. *BioScience* **43**, 95–103.
- Pernal, S. F. & Currie, R. W. (2002). Discrimination and preferences for pollen-based cues by foraging honeybees, *Apis mellifera* L. *Animal Behaviour* **63**, 369–390.
- PIMENTEL DE CARVALHO, A. C. & MESSAGE, D. (2004). A scientific note on the toxic pollen of Stryphnodendron polyphyllum (Fabaceae, Mimosoideae), which causes sacbrood-like symtoms. Apidologie 35, 89–90.
- Raguso, R. A. (2004). Why are some floral nectars scented? *Ecology* **85**, 1486–1494.
- RAINE, N. & CHITTKA, L. (2007). Pollen foraging: learning a complex motor skill by bumblebees (*Bombus terrestris*). Naturwissenschaften **94**, 459–464.
- RAJU, A. J. S. & RAO, S. P. (2006). Explosive pollen release and pollination as a function of nectar-feeding activity of certain bees in the biodiesel plant, *Pongamia pinnata* (L.) Pierre (Fabaceae). *Current Science* 90, 960–967.
- RAMSEY, M. W. (1988a). Differences in pollinator effectiveness of birds and insects visiting *Banksia menziesii* (Proteaceae). *Oecologia* 76, 119–124.

- Ramsey, M. W. (1988b). Floret opening in *Banksia menziesii* R.Br.: the importance of nectarivorous birds. *Australian Journal of Botany* **36**, 225–232.
- Renner, S. (1983). The widespread occurrence of anther destruction by *Trigona* bees in Melastomataceae. *Biotropica* **15**, 251–256.
- ROBERTSON, A., MOUNTJOY, C., FAULKNER, B., ROBERTS, M. & MACNAIR, M. (1999). Bumble bee selection of *Mimulus guttatus* flowers: the effects of pollen quality and reward depletion. *Ecology* **80**, 2594–2606.
- ROSE, M. J. & BARTHLOTT, W. (1994). Colored pollen in Cactaceae: a mimetic adaptation to hummingbird-pollination. *Botanica Acta* 107, 402–406.
- ROULSTON, T. H. & CANE, J. H. (2000). Pollen nutritional content and digestibility for animals. *Plant Systematics and Evolution* 222, 187–209.
- ROULSTON, T. H., CANE, J. H. & BUCHMANN, S. L. (2000). What governs protein content of pollen: pollinator preferences, pollenpistil interactions, or phylogeny? *Ecological Monographs* 70, 617–643.
- SAKAI, A. K., WAGNER, W. L., FERGUSON, D. M. & HERBST, D. R. (1995). Origins of dioecy in the Hawaiian flora. *Ecology* 76, 2517–2529.
- SAKAI, S. (2001). Thrips pollination of androdioecious Castilla elastica (Moraceae) in a seasonal tropical forest. American Journal of Botany 88, 1527–1534.
- Schremmer, F. (1953). Blütenbiologische beobachtungen an Labiaten. nektar- und pollendiebstahl. Österrichische Botanische Zeitschrift 100, 8–24.
- SHELLY, T. E. & VILLALOBOS, E. (2000). Buzzing bees (Hymenoptera: Apidae, Halictidae) on *Solanum* (Solanaceae): floral choice and handling time track pollen availability. *Florida Entomologist* 83, 180–187.
- SIGRIST, M. R. & SAZIMA, M. (2004). Pollination and reproductive biology of twelve species of neotropical malpighiaceae: Stigma morphology and its implications for the breeding system. *Annals* of *Botany* 94, 33–41.
- Simpson, B. B. & Neff, J. L. (1981). Floral rewards: alternatives to pollen and nectar. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden* **68**, 301–322.
- Sinu, P. & Shivanna, K. (2007). Pollination biology of large cardamom (Amonum subulatum). Current Science (Bangalore) 93, 548–552.
- SJÖSTRÖM, A. & GROSS, C. L. (2006). Life-history characters and phylogeny are correlated with extinction risk in the Australian angiosperms. *Journal of Biogeography* 33, 271–290.
- SNOW, A. A. & ROUBIK, D. W. (1987). Pollen deposition and removal by bees visiting two tree species in Panama. *Biotropica* **19**, 57–63.
- STANTON, M., YOUNG, H. J., ELLSTRAND, N. C. & CLEGG, J. M. (1991). Consequence of floral variation for male and female reproduction in experimental populations of wild radish, *Raphanus sativus* L. *Evolution* 45, 268–280.
- STRAUSS, S. Y. & WHITTALL, J. B. (2006). Non-pollinator agents of selection on floral traits. In *Ecology and evolution of flowers* (ed. L. D. Harder and S. C. H. Barrett), pp. 120–138. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Tezuka, T. & Maeta, Y. (1995). Pollen robbing behaviors observed in two species of introduced stingless bees (Hymenoptera, Apidae). *Journal of Entomology* **63**, 759–762.
- Thomson, J. (2001). Using pollination deficits to infer pollinator declines: can theory guide us? *Conservation Ecology* 5, 6.

- Thomson, J. D. & Thomson, B. A. (1992). Pollen presentation and viability schedules in animal-pollinated plants: consequences for reproductive success. In *Ecology and evolution of plant reproduction* (ed. R. Wyatt), pp. 1–25. Chapman and Hall, New York.
- THORP, R. W. (2000). The collection of pollen by bees. *Plant Systematics and Evolution* **222**, 211–223.
- TIMEWELL, C. A. R. & MACNALLY, R. (2004). Diurnal foraging-mode shifts and food availability in nectarivore assemblages during winter. Austral Ecology 29, 264–277.
- Torezan-Silingardi, H. & Del-Claro, K. (1998). Behavior of visitors and reproductive biology of *Campoimanesia pubescens* (Myrtaceae) in cerrado vegetation. *Ciencia e Cultura (Sao Paulo)* 50, 281–283.
- Traveset, A. & Richardson, D. M. (2006). Biological invasions as disruptors of plant reproductive mutualisms. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **21**, 208–216.
- USHIMARU, A., WATANABE, T. & NAKATA, K. (2007). Colored floral organs influence pollinator behaviour and pollen transfer in *Commelina communis* (Commelinaceae). *American Journal of Botany* 94, 249–258.
- UTELLI, A. B. & ROY, B. A. (2001). Causes and consequences of floral damage in *Aconitum lycoctonum* at high and low elevations in Switzerland. *Oecologia* 127, 266–273.
- VAISSIÈRE, B. E. & VINSON, S. B. (1994). Pollen morphology and its effect on pollen collection by honey bees, *Apis mellifera* L. (Hymenoptera: Apidae), with special reference to upland cotton, *Gossypium hirsutum* L. (Malvaceae). *Grana* 33, 128–138.
- VAMOSI, J. C., KNIGHT, T. M., STEETS, J. A., MAZER, S. J., BURD, M. & ASHMAN, T. L. (2006). Pollination decays in biodiversity hotspots. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103, 956–961.
- VAN KLEUNEN, M., FISCHER, M. & JOHNSON, S. D. (2007). Reproductive assurance through self-fertilization does not vary with population size in the alien invasive plant *Datura stramonium*. *Oikos* 116, 1400–1412.
- VAUGHTON, G. (1996). Pollination disruption by European honeybees in the Australian bird-pollinated shrub Grevillea barklyana (Proteaceae). Plant Systematics and Evolution 200, 89–100.
- Verhoeven, R. L. & Venter, H. J. T. (2001). Pollen morphology of the Periplocoideae, Secamonoideae, and Asclepiadoideae (Apocynaceae). *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden* **88**, 569–582.

- Vogel, S. (1978). Evolutionary shifts from reward to deception in pollen flowers. In *The pollination of flowers by insects* (ed. A. J. Richards), pp. 89–104. Academic Press, New York.
- Webb, C. J. & Lloyd, D. G. (1986). The avoidance of interference between the presentation of pollen and stigmas in angiosperms 2. Hercogamy. New Zealand Journal of Botany 24, 163–178.
- WEISS, M. R. (1996). Pollen-feeding fly alters floral phenotypic gender in *Centropogon solanifolius* (Campanulaceae). *Biotropica* 28, 770–773.
- WESTERKAMP, C. (1991). Honeybees are poor pollinators why? *Plant Systematics and Evolution* 177, 71–75.
- WESTERKAMP, C. (1996). Pollen in bee-flower relations: some considerations on melittophily. *Botanica Acta* 109, 325–332.
- Westerkamp, C. (1997). Keel blossoms: bee flowers with adaptations against bees. *Flora* **192**, 125–132.
- WESTERKAMP, C. (1999). Keel flowers of the Polygalaceae and Fabaceae: a functional comparison. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society* 129, 207–221.
- WILSON, P. & THOMSON, J. D. (1991). Heterogeneity among floral visitors leads to discordance between removal and deposition of pollen. *Ecology* 72, 1503–1507.
- WISE, M., CUMMINS, J. & DE YOUNG, C. (2008). Compensation for floral herbivory in *Solanum carolinense*: identifying mechanisms of tolerance. *Evolutionary Ecology* 22, 19–37.
- Wolfe, L. M. & Barrett, S. C. H. (1987). Pollinator foraging behavior and pollen collection on the floral morphs of tristylous *Pontederia cordata* L. *Oecologia* **74**, 347–351.
- YEO, P. F. (1993). Secondary Pollen Presentation. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Young, A. M. (1981). The ineffectiveness of the stingless bee *Trigona jaty* (Hymenoptera: Apidae: Meliponinae) as a pollinator of cocoa (*Theobroma cacao* L.). Journal of Applied Ecology 18.
- YOUNG, A. M. (1983). Nectar and pollen robbing of *Thunbergia grandiflora* by *Trigona* bees in Costa Rica. *Biotropica* 15, 78–80.
- Young, A. M. (1985). Pollen-collecting by stingless bees on cacao flowers. *Experientia (Basel)* **41**, 760–762.
- YOUNG, H. J., DUNNING, D. W. & VON HASSELN, K. W. (2007). Foraging behavior affects pollen removal and deposition in *Impatiens capensis* (Balsaminaceae). *American Journal of Botany* 94, 1267–1271.
- ZYCH, M. (2007). On flower visitors and true pollinators: The case of protandrous *Heracleum sphondylium* L. (Apiaceae). *Plant Systematics and Evolution* 263, 159–179